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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

• The subject property was built by William Bowbeer, an early settler of Peel region.  
• The subject property was the site of the Strawberry Festivals, organized by the Clarkson 

Women’s Institute that took place from 1919 to the 1940s.  
• The Terry family were well-known in Clarkson and were heavily involved in community affairs.  

 
INTRODUCTION 
This research and evaluation report describes the history, architecture, and context of the property at 
1040 Welwyn Drive.   
 
DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY 
 
According to the Heritage Status Report:  
“This is a storey-and-half, L-shaped plan structure with a medium pitched gable roof. The main arm 
has a two bay width and projects towards Clarkson road. A short arm with a one bay width and one bay 
projection faces south. A two storey addition was added to the rear (west) after 1910, replacing an 
original one storey frame kitchen. The main entrance was reoriented from Clarkson road to the rear of 
the addition after 1950, when access from Clarkson road became impeded by the development of 
residential land. Original red brick chimneys with corbelled caps were situated in either end of the main 
arm, these have been removed and recent external chimneys are situated on the north side and rear of 
the addition. A one storey open wrap around porch, which appears to have been added later, is situated 
in the elbow of the "L" and extends around half of the east gable end of the main arm. Six Tuscan-like 
columns support the roof with small pediments at either end. There is a one storey enclosed sun porch 
on the south side of the addition, and a one storey vestibule on the north side. A one storey portico with 
two Tuscan-like columns was built onto the addition when the facade entrance was reversed. There is a 
recent clapboard garage in a northeast direction from the house. The exterior of both the house and 
addition is broad brick that has been painted yellow. White painted fret-sawn verge board in a lacey-
loop pattern runs beneath the gables. The recent chimneys are stretcher bond red brick. The sun porch 
of the addition is white painted board and batten. The vestibule has a high brick foundation and white 
painted board and batten walls with windows. The windows in the original part of the house have 
wooden sills, plain frames, shutters and one over one paned sash. There is a two storey bay window on 
the front of the south projecting arm, and a one storey bay window in the first storey on the front of the 
main arm (east). A two-over-two paned sash round-headed window is situated beneath a gable on either 
side of the main. Two small rectangular windows with a leaded grid like design were added to the north 
side of the main arm. The windows in the addition vary in size, but most are twelve paned casements. A 
shed wall dormer with three casement windows is situated in the upper storey of the south side of the 
addition. The two doors of the original facade were replaced in 1910 - the doors, situated on the east 
side of the south projecting arm and front of the main arm, are contained under the wrap around porch. 
Both doors have two vertical oval glass panels with molded frames and square raised molded panels 
beneath. The glass panels originally had leaded glass with the same design as the windows on the north 
side. These appear to have been added later. The present front door is recent, and is situated under the 
one storey portico on the addition. There are two other recent doors added to the north side, one is in  
the one storey vestibule and the other has a gabled clapboard extension.”1 (See Appendix A for more 
images). 

 
1 Property Information. 1040 Welwyn Drive. Roll number: 05-02-0-036-21603-0000. Legal description: CON 2 SDS PT 
LOT 29 RP 43R678 PART 8. https://www.mississauga.ca/apps/#/property/view/heritage 
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Photo (left): Original entrance from Clarkson Road. Photo (right): Original main entrance. The current 
owner explained that Welwyn Drive was not developed until the 1970s. Photos courtesy of Amanda Barbosa. 
 
 

       
      Open wrap around porch views. Photos courtesy of Amanda Barbosa.  
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Photo (left): Addition made in 1995. Photo (right): Addition made in 1995 with porch. It is interesting to note 
that the addition was successfully made to look like the original structure. Photos courtesy of Amanda 
Barbosa.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Aerial of property in 2022.  
Screenshot taken from 
https://ext.maps.mississauga.ca/Html5Viewer/index.html?viewer=eMaps.HTML5  
 

1040 Welwyn Drive 
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RESEARCH 

Relevant Historical Timeline 

Date Event 
1871 William Bowbeer purchased the subject property from William R. Kelly for $2,304. 

1879 Subject property built by Bowbeer. 

1910 Charles Terry purchased subject property for $14,000 from Drusilla Clements (one of 
Bowbeer’s daughters).  

1913 Charles Terry sold a portion of the subject property to Samuel Biggs. 

1915-1939 Terry sells portions of subject property to various individuals. 

1943 Terry turned over the farm to his son, Burton.2 

1955 Burton sold most of the farm to Selmit Estates Limited, but kept 3 acres where the 
house is situated.3 Later on, it was turned into a subdivision. 

1972 Burton and his family lived in the subject property until it was sold in 1972.4 

William Bowbeer 

William Somerset Bowbeer (1819-1900) was born in Trafalgar Township, 
Halton County and was an early settler who played a significant role in 
shaping the landscape of Peel region. He built one of the more well-known 
barns at the Joshua Creek Heritage Art Centre. Bowbeer married Mary 
Anderson (1821-1884) in 1839, and together they raised several children: 
William Somerset, Mercy Ann Bowbeer, Sarah Phoebe Bowbeer, William 
Bradford Bowbeer, Mary Jane Bowbeer, James Henry Bowbeer, Annie 
Bowbeer, Margaret Elizabeth Bouvier, George Albert Bowbeer, Drusilla 
Clements and Charles W. Bowbeer. In the 1861 census, he was recorded as a 
farmer, reflecting his agricultural pursuits. Additionally, Bowbeer served as 
the Reeve of Trafalgar Township. He built the subject property in 1879.  

In an interview with William Bowbeer found in the Bowbeer family files, he 
mentions that his family came to the Trafalgar and Clarkson area in the 1700s.5 Their first crops were 
corn and wheat.6 He also mentioned a few other interesting things:  

• The first shingles were made from pine block with a knife and were meant to last.7

2 Hicks, Kathleen. Clarkson and its Many Corners. Mississauga: The Friends of the Mississauga Library System, 2003, p. 
115. 
3 Ibid.  
4 Ibid. 
5 Bowbeer family files. Courtesy of PAMA.  
6 Ibid.  

Close up of an original 
portrait of William Bowbeer, 
owned by J I Finney. 
Accessed through Ancestry.ca 
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• He remembered a “dog-churn,” where “a tread-mill made like a large wheel, about eight feet, 
into which a collie dog was put and started running until the ‘butter came.’”8 

• Early settlers would preserve black-caps and wild plums.9 
• “It took all night to get over the sand hills between Clarkson and Port Credit with a team and a 

load of grain. Mr. Bowbeer said he had seen twenty teams with lanterns swung under the 
waggons helping each other up the hills.”10 

 
The Terry Family 
 

Charles Ralph Terry (1866-1959) acquired 50 acres of Lot 29 in Concession 
2 on January 1910, along with a sizable residence, from Drusilla Clements, 
one of Bowbeer’s daughters. Married to Ellen Terry, they raised a family of 
12 children, (David Terry, Charles Roy Terry, Arthur Terry, Arlie Terry, 
Burton Terry, Ralph Terry, Ellen Violet Terry, Russell Terry, Goldwin Terry, 
Muriel Elta Hare, Ella Weldon and Gladys Coyne), while cultivating a 
prosperous farm specializing in apples and strawberries.11 The farm became 
known as the venue for the annual Strawberry Festival, which started in 
1919 and continued into the 1940s and was organized by The Clarkson 
Women’s Institute.12 The Terry family was active in the United Church and 
these Festivals saw notable attendance by WWI and WWII veterans from the 
Christie Street Hospital in Toronto.13 After the Second World War, Kathleen 
Hicks mentions that the Terrys exhibited their community spirit by 
welcoming a Japanese family, providing both employment on the farm and 
assistance with resettlement in Toronto.14 (Photo: Heritage Mississauga) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
7 Ibid.  
8 Ibid.  
9 Ibid.  
10 Ibid. 
11 Hicks, Kathleen. Clarkson and its Many Corners. Mississauga: The Friends of the Mississauga Library System, 2003, p. 
114. 
12 Ibid.  
13 Ibid.  
14 Ibid, p. 115. 
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Charles then turned over the farm to his son, Burton, in 1943, who in turn, sold most of the family 
estate to Selmit Estates Limited in 1955, retaining only 3 acres for the homestead, which later became a 
subdivision.15 The family's stewardship of the land concluded in 1972 with the sale of the final 
parcel.16 The last Terry who lived in the Clarkson area was David Terry, who acquired 6 acres of 
adjacent land on the east side of Clarkson Road North, Lots 27 and 28.17 Hicks writes, “When Charles 
passed away in 1959 at 92 years of age, the community lost a great resident.”18 (See Appendix B for 
images/newspaper articles).  
 

 
Photo: Heritage Mississauga 

 
15 Ibid.  
16 Ibid.  
17 Ibid.  
18 Ibid.  
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Photo: Heritage Mississauga 

 
The Parshalls  
 
Parshall Terry the 2nd (1756-1808) was born in America and served as sergeant with the Butler’s 
Rangers in the American Revolution.19 After the war, he moved to Canada and first settled in Kingston 
and then in York, where he owned a large amount of land.20 He worked and built a large sawmill on 
the Don River with his father-in-law, Timothy Skinner and his sons. Parshall was elected to the 1st 
Parliament of Upper Canada in the 4th riding of Lincoln and Norfolk.21 He was also a Grand Juror for 
Home District in 1800.22 Parshall the 2nd was Charles’ great-grandfather.  
 
Parshall Terry the 3rd (1778-) owned a store, hotel and Grist Mill in Albion.23 His oldest son, David, 
Charles' father (1817-1888), learned the milling business and ran his father’s mill.24 
 
In the Terry family files, it is written:  
 

“Charles Ralph Terry living at present (1935) in Clarkson where, with his sons he conducts a 
fruit business, having fine orchards, is the son of David Terry who was the son of Parshall 3rd. 

 
19 Terry family files. Courtesy of PAMA.  
20 Ibid.  
21 Ibid.  
22 Ibid.  
23 Ibid.  
24 Ibid.  
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(That is, Mr. Charles Ralph is the great grandson of…Parshall 2nd). Three of Charles Ralph’s 
sons, Goldwin, David and Arthur Terry, all enlisted from Clarkson for overseas services during 
the Great War. Goldwin and David were bombardiers…”25 

 
Interesting Fact 
 
After speaking with the current owner, they explained that the families who previously owned this 
property have come back to visit. They mentioned that in one of the bedrooms, the wallpaper was 
removed to reveal plaster with writings on it (specifically of a person’s name). The family that had 
lived there were moved to see it and explained that it was the name of a teenage crush.  
 
 
ARCHITECT 
 
Based on research and speculation, the subject property was most likely built by local builders. This is 
due to its vernacular appearance (see architectural description below). 
 
ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION 
 
The subject property exemplifies a vernacular farmhouse. A vernacular building is usually described as 
simple, functional and having a straightforward appearance. It is a combination of several architectural 
styles and heavily based on what materials and talents are locally available. It often reflects local social 
influence. For the most part, vernacular homes are not designed by an architect and are built by local 
builders with available local materials. As mentioned above, this house was built during William 
Bowbeer’s ownership. As a farmer, he required something practical for the type of work he did and this 
house suited his needs. It was most likely built by local builders without much professional guidance 
on architectural style. This is not to say that these builders were not skilled, instead they were 
influenced by local needs and available material. 
 
Some examples of other buildings of the same style in Mississauga  
 

1. 1455 Dixie Road (dated late 1800s)  
a. Built under the ownership of Daniel and George Death  

 
   2. Bateman-Murphy House (dated 1866)  

   a. Address: 16 Burlington Street  
 
   3. 972 Clarkson Road (dated 1915)  

   a. Built by Gordon Pattinson 
 
CONTEXT 
 
The subject property is part of Lot 29, Concession 2, situated south of Dundas Street that was formed 
after the First Purchase of Land from the Mississauga First Nation in 1805. Lot 29 is a 200 acre tract 

 
25 Ibid.  
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that is surrounded by Southdown Road and Clarkson Road. N. to the east and west, and Lakeshore 
Road to the south. 
 
Clarkson 
 
A brief history of Clarkson taken from Heritage Mississauga’s website:  
 

“Driving into Clarkson today, newcomers might wonder at the “Welcome” signs that greet them. 
Certainly, to the average passer-by, following Lakeshore Road or Southdown Road, there might 
be little to remind them visually of the village’s rich historical roots. There was a time, not so 
long ago, that Clarkson was a rural village within Toronto Township. Considered by many as 
the first settled area of Mississauga, settlement first began in this area in 1807. Among the first 
settlers were the Bradley, Clarkson, Gable, Greeniaus, Hammond, Hendershott, Jarvis, Marlatt, 
Merigold, Monger, Oliphant, Shook and Thompson families, amongst others. Many of them 
were Loyalists. The area became referred to as “Merigold’s Point,” after the prominent 
Merigold family. Over time the emerging community unofficially became known as “Clarkson’s 
Corners” after early settler Warren Clarkson, who had opened a general store and post office on 
his property. In 1850, the road alignment which bordered Warren Clarkson’s property was 
officially recognized as Clarkson Road. In 1855, the Great Western Railway arrived. A train 
station was on part of Warren Clarkson’s property and given the name of “Clarkson’s.” The 
name of the station, and through it the surrounding area, was later shortened to “Clarkson”. 
Although the community never incorporated as an independent village, in its heyday Clarkson 
was recognized as the “Strawberry Capital of Ontario”. Clarkson became part of the Town of 
Mississauga in 1968.”26 
 
 

PROPERTY CHANGES27 
 

• In 1973, a permit to build a pool was approved.  
• In 1988, a permit to build a garage was approved.  
• In 1995, a two-storey addition was approved to the existing building. 
• The main entrance was changed to the rear of addition after 1950.  
• The original red brick chimneys were removed, and external chimneys were built on the north 

side of the addition.  
 

CONCLUSION 
 
The property at 1040 Welwyn Drive has physical, historical and contextual significance. It served as 
the venue for the Strawberry Festivals held between 1919 and the 1940s, marking a cherished tradition 
of the era. The Terry family, prominent figures in Clarkson, played a significant role in community 
engagement and local affairs, leaving a lasting impact on the area's development. Additionally, while 
the subject property appears to be vernacular, it contains unique features, such as “white painted fret-
sawn verge board in a lacey-loop pattern that runs beneath the gables.”28 

 
26 “Clarkson.” Heritage Mississauga. https://heritagemississauga.com/clarkson/  
27  Property Information. 1040 Welwyn Drive. Roll number: 05-02-0-036-21603-0000. Legal description: CON 2 SDS PT 
LOT 29 RP 43R678 PART 8. https://www.mississauga.ca/apps/#/property/view/heritage 
28 Ibid.  
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Appendix A  
 
 

 
Photo courtesy of Mississauga Library. PH2091. 
 
 

 
Photo courtesy of Mississauga Library. PH2089.  
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Photo courtesy of Mississauga Library. PH2075. 
 
 

 
Photos courtesy of Mississauga Library. PH2092 and PH2079. Photo (left): View of the rear gable with 
bargeboard. Photo (right): Shows two bay windows on south side of the property.  
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Photo courtesy of Mississauga Library. PH2076.  
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Current entrance to 1040 Welwyn Drive. Photo courtesy of Amanda Barbosa.  
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Current entrance to 1040 Welwyn Drive. Photo courtesy of Amanda Barbosa.  
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An up-close image shows the original structure made using stones. Photo courtesy of Amanda Barbosa.  
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Garage that was added in 1988. Photo courtesy of Amanda Barbosa.  
 

 
Current owner has a mini library outside the driveway to the property. Photo courtesy of Amanda Barbosa.  
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Photo: Heritage Mississauga 
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Globe and Mail. Feb 18, 1959 
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